THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

C.A. No. 2012-GS-26-2938

Appellate Case No.: 2013-000336

The State of South Carolina:Respondent,

v.

Kareem S. HarryAppellant.

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT
KAREEM S. HARRY**

Meliah Bowers Jefferson
WYCHE, P.A.
44 East Camperdown Way
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
(864) 242-8200

AND

Robert M. Dudek
South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
1330 Lady Street, Suite 401
Columbia, South Carolina 29201

Attorneys for Appellant Kareem Harry.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED

Did the Circuit Court err in failing to direct a verdict of acquittal in favor of Appellant Kareem S. Harry where the record lacked direct or substantial circumstantial evidence proving Harry guilty of murder under the “hand of one is the hand of all” theory of accomplice liability?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Horry County grand jury indicted Appellant Kareem S. Harry ("Harry") for the offense of murder on July 26, 2012. *See* Indictment. His case was tried before a jury on February 11-14, 2013, with the Honorable Steven H. John presiding. Ed Chrisco represented Harry. Assistant Solicitors Brad Richardson and Joshua Holford prosecuted the case.

The jury found Harry guilty of the offense of murder, under the hand of one hand of all theory of accomplice liability. Judge Stevens sentenced Harry to Thirty-One (31) years imprisonment. This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The State's case against Harry was entirely circumstantial and rooted in an absurd theory that Harry masterminded an elaborate plan or scheme to kill Kevin Bowens ("Bowens") in retribution for stealing Harry's television. The evidence presented by the State consisted of testimony from three co-defendants charged in connection with Bowen's murder, none of which testified as to any knowledge of a plan concerning stealing, assaulting, or otherwise engaging in any illegal activity, or Harry's involvement in Bowens' death. The State also submitted testimony and evidence gathered by law enforcement during their investigation of the shooting, which support no more than Harry's mere presence during the shooting. Finally, the State submitted testimony from several witnesses who did not witness the actual shooting, unable to provide any evidence to substantiate the State's theory of the case.

Ashley Bledsoe

Ashley Bledsoe ("Bledsoe") was indicted as a co-defendant in this matter and

testified in the State's case against Harry under a proffer agreement. Bledsoe had an on-again-off-again relationship with Harry. He occasionally helped her financially, stayed in her apartment from time to time, and stored some of his belongings there including a plasma screen television. (R. p. 46, line 19.); (R. p. 52, lines 10-13.); (R. p. 53, lines 4-23.)

Bledsoe met the victim, Kevin Bowens ("Bowens"), on February 27, 2011. He picked her up at a gas station, and spent a night out on the town with Bledsoe and her roommate. (R. p. 50, line 15-p. 89, line 1.) Bowens slept at Bledsoe's apartment that night and, on the following morning, Bledsoe gave Bowens Harry's plasma screen television. (R. p. 52, line 7.); (R. p. 53, lines 9-19.) She testified that she gave Bowens the television with the intention of selling it after getting permission from Harry to do so. (R. 53, lines 17-24.) However, Bledsoe admitted that Harry did not know Bowens at the time of the transaction and was unaware that she was selling the television to Bowens. (R. p. 54, lines 2-7.) In fact, Bledsoe initially misled everyone in telling Harry that she sold the television to a girl and telling Bowens that the television belonged to one of her girlfriends. (R. p. 66, lines 16-21.) She further perpetrated her deception in text messages to Bowens pleading for the return of the television because "the girl was going to call the cops on me if I didn't get the TV back." (R. p. 67, lines 7-8.) She also texted to Bowens that she was "homeless. Please give me the money." (R. p. 67, line 19.) It was not until Harry sought return of the television or the money that she admitted to Bowens that the television belonged to Harry and that she needed to get it back. *Id.*

By March 1, 2011, Bledsoe and her roommate had moved out of their apartment and she had returned all of Harry's belongings to him with the exception of the television

or any proceeds from the sale of the television. (R. 53, lines 4-11.) At that point, Harry called Bledsoe about the television and they met at Waccamaw Hospital in Murrells Inlet, South Carolina, where Bledsoe first told Harry the truth that Bowens had possession of his television and where Bowens lived. (R. p. 54, line 20-p. 55, line 23.)

At trial, Bledsoe testified that, instead of going directly to retrieve the television from Bowens in Kings Grant, Harry went to his friends Tommy Byrne ("Byrne") and Saire Castro's ("Castro") apartment in Myrtle Beach immediately after picking her up from Waccamaw Hospital. (R. pp. 56-58.) Once they arrived at the apartment in Myrtle Beach, Bledsoe said that Harry went into the apartment alone for approximately five minutes and returned with Byrne and Castro in tow. *Id.* She acknowledged that she was not privy to any conversation between Harry, Byrne, and Castro. *Id.* She further testified that Byrne and Castro traveled in a different vehicle than she and Harry, and that they had no knowledge of where she was directing Harry to go. *Id.*

Bledsoe noted that Harry talked to Bowens prior to arriving at his home about getting the television back. (R. p. 58, lines 14-18.) When they arrived at Bowens' home, Harry, Byrne, and Castro got out of the vehicles within a minute of each other and, at Bowens' invitation, walked into his yard while Bledsoe remained. (R. p. 58, line 19-p. 59, line 1.) Bledsoe later got out of the vehicle and talked to Bowens about the details of the transaction, at which point Bowens indicated that Bledsoe had been lying about the situation. (R. p. 59, lines 2-10.) Bledsoe also admitted on cross-examination that she had texted Bowens prior to their arrival at his home accusing him of stealing money from her because he did not pay for the television. (R. p. 76, lines 1-9.)

Bledsoe next testified that Castro instructed her to return to the vehicle, and she

then heard gunshots as she did so. (R. 59, lines 12-14.) She and Harry ran to their vehicle and left Bowens' home. (R. p. 59, lines 14-17.) They were pulled over by the police shortly thereafter, and Harry ran away from the vehicle. (R. p. 60, lines 23-25.)

Tommy Byrne

Co-defendant Tommy Byrne was also indicted for Bowens' murder and testified in the State's case against Harry under a proffer agreement. He indicated that he and Castro resided in the same apartment. (R.. p. 134, lines 14-22.) He further testified that Castro stored a revolver in the kitchen of the apartment above the cabinets. (R. p. 139, lines 8-20.) However, when additionally questioned about Castro's firearm, Byrne could only discuss the general "common knowledge" concerning whether Castro was known to carry a weapon, and could not specifically acknowledge that Harry knew Castro carried weapons or had the weapon on the day of the incident. (R. p. 143, line 19–p. 144, line 13.)

During his testimony, Byrne recalled Harry stopping by the apartment on the day of the shooting and having a conversation with Castro. Byrne admits that he did not hear the substance of the conversation, but estimated that Harry and Castro talked for approximately five to eight minutes. Then, Castro went over to the kitchen to ask Byrne if he wanted to take a ride with them. (R. p. 152, line 2–p. 156, line 14.) Byrne next testified that Harry left the apartment prior to the time Castro retrieved his firearm.

Q. So, Kareem and Saire [Castro] have had some kind of conversation for five to eight minutes?

A. Yes, Sir.

Q. How does that end?

A. As in Saire [Castro] comes up to me and asks me I want to take a ride.

Q. Okay, and you're still at the table at this point?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And what do you do?

A. Get up and start heading out.

- Q. Does Saire [Castro] go out in front of you?
A. No, sir.
Q. Where is he whenever you start to go outside?
A. Walking into the kitchen.
Q. So, he keeps on going into the kitchen ---
A. Yes, sir.
Q. ---where he's got his gun?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. How about Kareem [Harry], is he still in the house at this point?
A. No, sir, he's in front of me going down the steps.
Q. Okay, so you're heading towards the steps already and Kareem [Harry]' s in front of you?
A. Yes, sir.

(R. p. 156, line 9-p. 157, line 10.)

According to Byrne, he learned that they were going to get Harry's television while on the drive to Bowens' home. (R. p. 160, lines 15-24.) When they arrived, the gentlemen exited the vehicles at approximately the same time and walk into the yard where Bowens joined them. (R. p. 165, lines 2-25.) Byrne then described the chaos that ensued over the following minutes. According to Byrne, Harry and Bowens were having a calm conversation until Bledsoe came over and confronted Bowens about the transaction. After a heated exchange between Bledsoe and Bowens, Harry told Bledsoe to return to the vehicle, and then Castro suddenly shot Bowens. (R. p. 168 line 20-p. 172, line 15.) Everyone ran back to the vehicles and left the scene of the shooting. While leaving, Byrnes recalled Castro acting anxiously and saying "What'd I just do." (R. p. 177, lines 6-9.)

Sage McPhail

Sage McPhail ("McPhail") was indicted for accessory to Bowens' murder after the fact and testified in the State's case against Harry under a proffer agreement. (R. p. 2233, line 18-p. 225, line 20.) McPhail indicated that he had a long-standing friendship

with Byrne and knew Castro well because he lived with Byrne. However, McPhail described his relationship with Harry as merely acquaintances, occasionally interacting since 2011. (R. p. 215, line 8-p. 223, line 12.) Although McPhail admitted his knowledge of Castro's possession and storage of firearms, he did not provide any evidence regarding Harry's knowledge of the matter. (R. p. 226, lines 9-24.) McPhail also recalled that he assisted Bledsoe in moving Harry's belongings out of her apartment and that he left his vehicle with Harry for his use on the day of the shooting because McPhail was performing maintenance on Harry's vehicle. (R. p. 227, line 10-p. 229, line 1.)

McPhail was not present at the scene of the incident and did not see Harry until after the shooting occurred. Harry had asked McPhail to replace the brakes on a vehicle earlier in the day, and McPhail was waiting at Harry's residence to return it. Harry was not there when McPhail arrived, so he fell asleep waiting for Harry to return. McPhail further testified that he was startled when Harry returned because Harry tapped on the window, informed McPhail that the police were in possession of his vehicle, and then Harry's brother dropped McPhail off at Byrne's residence. (R. p. 235, line 3-p. 242, line 1.) McPhail later assisted Castro in fleeing the area. (R. p. 243, line 14-p. 245, line 12.)

Law Enforcement and Other Witnesses

In its case in chief, the State also presented evidence regarding the police investigation of the shooting and other witness testimony. William Muldoon was one of the police officers that stopped the vehicles on the night of the shooting. He testified that Harry fled when he pulled the vehicle over, but he could not recall whether or not

Bledsoe explained that Harry fled because he had warrants. (R. p. 29, line 19-p. 30, line 2.) Jill Domogauer, a crime scene investigator with the Horry County Police Department, testified generally regarding the crime scene including the existence of a firearm inside the Bowens' residence. (R. p. 109, lines 6-23.) However, she admitted that the police did no forensic testing on Bowens' weapon. *Id.*

The other witnesses presented by the State consisted of neighbors and Bowens' girlfriend, none of whom witnessed the shooting. Shantel Lehman, a neighbor of Bowens, was taking out the trash and noticed Bowens talking with some people in his yard, but "didn't think anything of it." Then, she heard gunshots. (R. p. 117, lines 1-8.) She specifically clarified that Bowens was merely talking with the people in his yard, not arguing with anyone. (R. p. 125, lines 21-24.)

Brian McGarrahan testified that he was inside his home when he heard gunshots. (R. p. 204, lines 17-19.) He, then, went outside to assist Bowens and was joined by another unidentified person shortly thereafter. (R. p. 208, line 14-p. 209, line 4.) Although he could not recall whether he told the police at the time of the incident, McGarrahan testified that Bowens possessed a firearm that fell out of his waistband on the night of the shooting. (R. p. 209, lines 5-9.)

Christina Patterson and Bowens were in a romantic relationship. (R. p. 288, line 13.) She acknowledged that Bowens brought a television to their home on February 28, 2011, and indicated that he had purchased it from someone for a combination of cash and drugs. (R. p. 306, lines 17-23.) She further testified that, on March 1, 2011, Bowens received text messages from Bledsoe that he described as causing "drama" between him and Harry over the television. (R. p. 316, lines 3-24.) Although she was inside her

home when Harry and the others arrived, Patterson recalled the two vehicles pulling into the yard at a fast speed. She then acknowledged that Bowens invited Harry and the others into his yard with the firearm visible in his waistband. (R. p. 320, lines 20-22.); (R. p. 323, line 5-p. 324, line 13.) Patterson did not witness the entire event, but returned to her front yard when she heard gunshots. (R. p. 328, lines 19-25.) She attempted to assist Bowens and, at some point, removed his firearm, money, and drugs from the scene of the incident before the police arrived. (R. p. 332, line 2-p. 334, line 5.) She did not disclose this information to the police until August 2011, five months after the shooting. (R. p. 336, line 22-p. 337, line 24.)

Directed Verdict Motion

At the close of the State's case, Defense counsel moved for a directed verdict of acquittal based on the State's failure to present substantial circumstantial evidence of Harry's guilt of murder, under the hand of one hand of all theory of accomplice liability. Particularly, defense counsel argued that the State had not demonstrated that Harry aided Castro in any way in shooting Bowens, that there was no evidence in the record to fulfill the illegal purpose element of the charge, and that the State had not proven a common design and purpose. (R. p. 353, line 18-p. 354, line 3.)

The State argued that it had proven a common design or scheme by showing that Harry knew the location of the television, but went to Byrne's apartment first to get Castro and Byrne instead of going straight to Bowens' residence to get the television by himself. (R. p. 354, line 12-p. 359, line 12.)

The trial court determined that the State's case against Harry was circumstantial. (R. p. 361, lines 1-2.) The trial court found that the State had demonstrated substantial

circumstantial evidence in showing that Harry had an urgent need for the television or the money because he was on probation. The trial court further found that Harry went out of his way to recruit Castro, "a person common knowledge was that he carried a weapon," to accompany him to get the television. Additionally, the trial court found that after Castro shot Bowens in Harry's presence, Harry fled the scene. Accordingly, the trial court denied Harry's motion. (R. p. 361, line 6-p. 362, line 15.)

The Defense's Case

Saire Castro testified for the defense. Castro pled guilty to voluntary manslaughter for the shooting of Bowens and was sentenced to Thirty years imprisonment. (R. p. 365, lines 14-20.) In contrast to Byrne's testimony, Castro testified that it was Harry and Byrne who engaged in a conversation at the apartment, and that he only went with the two of them as a convenience so Byrne would have a ride home later that night. (R. p. 366, line 16-p. 367, line 2.) Castro explained that he did not find out where they were going or that they were going to get a television until they were driving over to Bowens' home. He further admitted that he shot Bowens without any prior discussion with Harry. (R. p. 367, line 3-p. 368, line 12.)

Harry testified in his own defense. He explained that Bledsoe sold his television without collecting any money and he met with her at Waccamaw Hospital to figure out how to resolve the situation. (R. p. 442, line 25-p. 444, line 23.) While Harry was with Bledsoe, he contacted Byrne to buy marijuana. (R. p. 445, line 22-p. 446, line 8.) However, before he could go to Byrne's apartment, Harry talked to Bowens and they discussed the television. (R. p. 447, lines 5-10.) Because Harry was not in a rush to get the television, he proceeded to Byrne's apartment where he got marijuana and made

arrangements for Byrne to help him return McPhail's vehicle later that night. (R. p. 447, line 10-p. 448, line 22.) Castro just happened to join them – Harry did not, specifically, invite him to come along. (R. p. 447, line 22-p. 449, line 1.)

When they arrived at Bowen's residence, the conversation was initially calm. Then, Bledsoe confronted Bowens about the television and the conversation escalated in intensity, at which point Castro told Bledsoe to get back into the vehicle. Harry turned to escort Bledsoe back to the vehicle, and then he heard the gunshots and saw Bowens fall to the ground. (R. p. 449, line 20-p. 457, line 1.) Harry further explained that they all left the scene of the incident in their vehicles, and when they were pulled over by the police, he ran because he did not want to face a probation violation. (R. p. 459, line 22-p. 460, line 3.) Harry's uncontroverted testimony was that he did not know Castro had a gun until he shot Bowens. (R. p. 499, line 15-p. 500, line 4.); (R. 506, lines 11-12.)

At the close of the defense's case, Defense counsel renewed the motion for directed verdict. (R. p. 514, lines 17-19.) Despite the State's failure to present substantial circumstantial evidence to prove the existence of any plan or scheme to commit an illegal purpose and its further failure to present substantial circumstantial evidence of Harry's participation in Bowen's shooting, the trial court again denied Harry's renewed motion for directed verdict at the close of his defense. (R. p. 514, line 23-p. 515, line 18.)

The jury convicted Harry of murder under the theory of hand of one hand of all accomplice liability. (R. p. 518, lines 9-15.); The trial court sentenced him to Thirty-one years imprisonment. (R. p. 528, lines 13-25.); Sentence Sheet (R. pp. 4-5.) This appeal followed.

ARGUMENT

Summary of Argument

Kareem Harry should have never been convicted of killing Kevin Bowens. Saïre Castro confessed to the tragic shooting of Bowens and admitted that he acted alone without any plan or cooperation from anyone else. The State knew these uncontroverted facts. Yet, on February 11, 2013, it proceeded to prosecute Kareem Harry for the very crime to which Castro confessed.

In its case, the State offered no direct evidence of Harry's involvement in the shooting. The State's case was purely circumstantial and failed to demonstrate essential elements of the offense, including the lack of evidence showing any common design and purpose to commit any illegal act when Harry met Bowens at his residence to discuss the return of a television. At the most, the State only presented scant circumstantial evidence indicating little more than Harry's mere presence during the commission of the crime by Castro. When defense counsel initially moved for directed verdict at the close of the State's case against Harry, the evidence before the trial court represented a mere suspicion of guilt. Defense counsel again sought a directed verdict of acquittal at the close of all evidence in the case. The trial court erred in denying each motion without a sufficient finding of substantial circumstantial evidence.

On February 14, 2013, Kareem S. Harry was convicted for a crime he did not commit by a jury that should have never had the opportunity to deliberate his fate. Instead, the trial court should have directed a verdict of acquittal in favor of Harry due to the State's failure to prove its case by substantial circumstantial evidence. For these reasons and the others discussed further below, the Court should reverse Harry's

conviction, and remand the matter back to the trial court with instructions to enter a directed verdict of acquittal.

The Circuit Court erred in failing to direct a verdict of acquittal where there was a lack of direct or substantial circumstantial evidence proving Harry guilty of murder under the “hand of one is the hand of all” theory of accomplice liability.

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