ORIGINAL

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

Appeal from Horry County
Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2013-000336

RECEIVED

DEC 4 2014

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Appellant,

v.

KAREEM HARRY,

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Assistant Deputy Attorney General

J. ANTHONY MABRY
Assistant Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-6305

JIMMY RICHARDSON
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit
P. O. Drawer 1276
Conway, SC 29528-1276
(843) 915-5460

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

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

ARGUMENT

Judge John did not err in denying the motion for a directed verdict because there was direct and substantial circumstantial evidence of Harry's guilt of murder.

What Occurred Below

At the close of the State's case, Harry moved for a directed verdict. Judge John denied the motion for a directed verdict. (R. pp. 352-362). In ruling on the motion, Judge John stated as follows:

I've looked at, just so that the record reflects, I've also gone through now the case of State v. Curry found at 636 S.E.2d 649. Let me look at State v. Langley here.

All right, based on the Defendant's motion basically for a directed verdict based on insufficient evidence of the crime charged, the murder under the theory of the hand of one is the hand of all basic law regarding directed verdict, of course, is that the Defendant is entitled to a directed verdict when the State fails to produce evidence of the offense charged, and again, the trial court's concerned with the existence of evidence, not with the weight of the evidence and if there's any direct evidence or substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused the case properly goes to the jury. Obviously their standard is much different. The Court's standard and I think we would all be in agreement this is a substantial or circumstantial evidence case and obviously the Defense disagrees whether it's substantial or not but it's a circumstantial evidence case and the standard then is is there substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused. The trial court grants a directed verdict motion when a – in the trial of a case when the evidence merely raises a suspicion that the Defendant is guilty of the crime charged and where a jury would only be speculating as to the guilt of the accused or where the evidence is sufficient only to raise a mere suspicion of guilt. Suspicion is defined as implying a belief or opinion as to guilt based on facts or circumstances which do not amount to proof.

In this case, and again in the Court's view, it is a circumstantial evidence case and I'm going to highlight some facts. These are not all the facts the Court has reviewed or using in making its decision, but there are, and some of these are the same that the State brought out in its, in its argument, the – it's clear that the Defendant wanted the TV or the funds, that there's evidence that there was some urgency to his need, that being his probation meeting or hearing the next day, that he knew and was informed where the TV was located he had a direct path to go to the location of the TV, which was in the testimony approximately 2.9 miles. He decided not to do that. He decided to go to a place where an individual by the name of Saire Castro was located, the testimony indicating a person common

knowledge was that he carried a weapon, had him after a conversation with that individual come along and accompany the Defendant to the location and to accomplish this he had to travel distances far out of his way as testified to, many, many miles out of his way to recruit this person, and then to go back to the location. He goes to the location. The testimony indicates that the multiple vehicles arrived at the location and drove into the yard of the location. There's testimony they the did so in a fast manner, that they exited the vehicles in a hurry, they met the person who had the TV and as a result of the discussion the person that Mr. Harry had recruited to come along with him to collect the TV or the money who the testimony indicates was known to carry a weapon, pulled out that weapon and shot and killed the victim in the presence of Mr. Harry. After that Mr. Harry does not stay at the location to answer questions to the police or to explain his position. He flees the scene. When the police attempt to stop him he flees from the police, not once but twice. All this the Court finds is, in addition to all the other testimony and evidence presented in this case, I'm just highlighting those facts, those aren't the only ones in this case, that there is substantial circumstantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the accused or from which his guilt can be fairly and logically deduced, and therefore, the motion for a directed verdict is denied.

(R. pp. 359-362). At the close of the defense's case, after testifying, and after calling Castro as a witness, Harry renewed his motion for a directed verdict. Judge John again denied the motion for a directed verdict. (R. pp. 514-515). In denying the motion, Judge John stated as follows:

All right, in, in that and, and the Court accepts that your re-argument of the – your directed verdict motion that you made earlier at the end of the State's case with all the arguments you made at that point in time, those being made again now at this stage of the proceedings at the end of the evidence. Again, as I indicated, and I don't see the necessity to go through all the standards again regarding directed verdict standards. I reincorporate those standards as I indicated them previously but the Court finds in this particular matter that it does and I think it's clear that the State is relying here and its basically a circumstantial evidence case, and based upon that and my examination of the facts and the rendition of the facts that we went through and certainly now we've had some additional testimony, but that evidence still exists but now there's additional testimony, that I believe that there has been substantial circumstantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the accused or from which the guilt of the Defendant could be fairly and logically deduced, and therefore, based upon that the Court respectfully declines to grant your motion for a directed verdict.

(R. pp. 514-515). After the jury convicted Harry of murder, Harry renewed his previous motions

for a directed verdict as a motion for a new trial, which was again denied by Judge John. (R. pp. 519-520). In denying the motion for a new trial Judge John stated as follows:

Regarding this particular matter and the motion of the Defense regarding its previous matters raised to the Court's attention now in their motion for a new trial the evidence in this matter was of a circumstantial nature. As I previously indicated I believe there is more than sufficient evidence to send the matter to a jury for their consideration and I again reaffirm that. I believe there was competent evidence presented in this matter that would and does sustain the verdict of the jury in this matter. It is not my position at this point in time on a motion for a new trial and where we are at this stage of the proceedings to substitute my judgment if there – if I had a difference as to how I would have voted for that of the jury and overturned a verdict on those matters. I have examined the evidence previously regarding the directed verdict motions. I have examined the evidence regarding this motion for a new trial. There is and without question more than sufficient evidence to submit the question of guilt to the jury and more than sufficient evidence to sustain the jury's verdict of guilty of the crime of murder. Therefore, I respectfully decline to grant your motion for a new trial.

(R. pp. 520). Harry now alleges on appeal Judge John erred in denying his motion(s) for a directed verdict because none of the testifying co-defendants, whose charges had not yet been disposed of, or Castro, or appellant Harry, admitted there was an agreement that if the victim did not surrender the T.V. or money he would be assaulted, shot, or murdered. There is no merit to this appellate ground.

The gist of Harry's argument is that the State's case failed because there was no testimonial evidence of an express agreement between Harry and Castro to assault, injure or kill the victim. The effect of this analysis is that unless the State can produce evidence of actual discussions between co-conspirators or co-perpetrators while planning the crime, a defendant's testimony (after the State rests its case-in-chief) that he never conspired with his co-defendant, and never intended to commit any crime, will mandate a directed verdict on any charge requiring an agreement, premeditation, or an intent to commit a crime. The defendants' concerted actions leading up to and during the crime will be irrelevant, while their protestations of innocence and

claim of lack of intent will be paramount. Such a result renders the well-established directed verdict analysis, and the applicable standard of appellate review, completely meaningless. Further, it would be an impossible burden for the State to meet in a case such as this where the two (2) key perpetrators held a private discussion, refused to cooperate or incriminate themselves, and their actions clearly show there was concert of action and both are guilty under the law of parties to a crime.

General Standard of Review
(Appellate)

In criminal cases, this Court sits to review errors of law only and is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5-6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). Thus on review, the appellate court is limited to determining whether the trial court abused its discretion. Wilson, 345 S.C. at 6, 545 S.E.2d at 829. An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's decision is unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law. State v. Garrett, 350 S.C. 613, 619, 567 S.E.2d 523, 526 (Ct. App. 2002).

Standard of Review / Directed Verdict
(Appellate)

A defendant may only appeal from a trial judge's denial of a motion for a directed verdict of acquittal where there is a total failure of competent evidence tending to establish the charge laid in the indictment, and absent an error of law, the ruling must stand. State v. Schrock, 283 S.C. 129, 322 S.E.2d 450 (1984).¹² In reviewing a denial of a directed verdict, this Court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State. State v. Cope, 405 S.C. 317, 748 S.E.2d 194 (2013); State v. Rogers, 405 S.C. 554, 748 S.E.2d 265 (Ct. App. 2013). This Court views the evidence **and** all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State. State v. Lemire,

¹² See also State v. Tyner, 273 S.C. 646, 258 S.E. 2d 559 (1979); State v. Irvin, 270 S.C. 539, 243 S.E.2d 195 (1978).

406 S.C. 558, 753 S.E.2d 247 (Ct. App. 2013), *citing* State v. Weston, 367 S.C. 279, 292, 625 S.E.2d 641, 648 (2006).¹³ The appellate court is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. State v. Brown, 402 S.C. 119, 740 S.E.2d 493, 495 (2013); State v. Gilliland, 402 S.C. 389, 741 S.E.2d 521, *3 (Ct. App. 2012). If there is any direct evidence, or if there is substantial circumstantial evidence, that reasonably tends to prove the defendant's guilt, this Court must find the trial court properly submitted the case to the jury. Brown, 740 S.E.2d at 495; State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494, 500 (2005); State v. Rogers 405 S.C. 554, 748 S.E.2d 265 (Ct. App. 2013), *citing* State v. Odems, 395 S.C. 582, 586, 720 S.E.2d 48, 50 (2011); Gilliland at *3. This Court considers only the existence or non-existence of evidence, not witness' credibility, in reviewing the denial of a directed verdict. Rogers *supra*, n. 5, 748 S.E.2d 265, n. 5.¹⁴ Our courts have repeatedly held, where the evidence is circumstantial, the evidence will be considered as a whole, not in isolation, in determining whether there was sufficient evidence to submit the case to the jury. Rogers *supra*.¹⁵ If the State has presented any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, this Court must affirm the trial court's decision to submit the case to the jury. State v. Hepburn, 406 S.C. 416, 753 S.E.2d 402 (2013).¹⁶ "The appellate court may reverse the trial judge's denial of a motion for a directed verdict only if there is no evidence to support the judge's ruling." State v.

¹³ See also State v. Palmer, 2014 WL 551581 (Ct. App. 2014).

¹⁴ See State v. Cherry, 348 S.C. 281, 286, 559 S.E.2d 297, 299 (Ct. App. 2001)(en banc), *aff'd in result*, 361 S.C. 588, 594, 606 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2004); State v. Scott, 330 S.C. 125, 131, n. 4, 497 S.E.2d 735, 738, n. 4 (Ct. App. 1998).

¹⁵ See State v. Frazier, 386 S.C. 526, 532-33, 689 S.E.2d 610, 613-14 (2010)(viewing circumstantial evidence "collectively" and "as a whole" to hold directed verdict properly denied); Cherry, 361 S.C. at 595, 606 S.E.2d at 478 (finding circumstantial evidence, when combined, was sufficient to for the fact finder to infer guilt); State v. Buckmon, 347 S.C. 316, 323-24, 555 S.E.2d 402, 405-06 (2001).

¹⁶ Furthermore, when the defendant offers proof in his case in chief, the appellate court is to consider all of the evidence in ruling on whether a directed verdict motion at the close of the defendant's case was properly denied. See Hepburn, 406 S.C. at 429-42, 753 S.E.2d 402, *adopting* State v. Harry, 321 S.C. 273, 468 S.E.2d 76 (Ct. App. 1996); *Cf. State v. Thompkins*, 220 S.C. 523, 68 S.E.2d 465 (1951)(citation omitted).

Stanley, 365 S.C. 24, 42, 615 S.E.2d 455, 464 (Ct. App. 2005).

(Trial Court's Standard)

A motion for directed verdict is properly denied when there is any evidence, direct or circumstantial, that reasonably tends to prove the defendant's guilt. State v. Brandt, 393 S.C. 526, 542, 713 S.E.2d 591, 599 (2011). When ruling on a directed verdict motion, the trial court is concerned with the existence or nonexistence of evidence, not its weight. Cope, 405 S.C. 317, 748 S.E.2d 194; Cherry, 361 S.C. at 593, 606 S.E.2d at 477-78; State v. Gaines, 380 S.C. 23, 667 S.E.2d 728, 732-33 (2008).¹⁷ A trial court should grant the directed verdict motion when the evidence merely raises a suspicion the accused is guilty, as suspicion implies a belief or opinion as to guilt based upon facts or circumstances which do not amount to proof. Cherry, 361 S.C. at 594, 606 S.E.2d at 478. On the other hand, "a trial judge is not required to find that evidence infers guilt to the exclusion of any other reasonable hypothesis." Hepburn, 406 S.C. 416, 753 S.E.2d 402.¹⁸ The trial judge is required to deny the motion for a directed verdict and submit the case to the jury if there is *any* direct evidence or *any* substantial circumstantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the accused, or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced. Hepburn, 406 S.C. at 429, 753 S.E.2d 402, *quoting* State v. Mitchell, 341 S.C. 406, 535 S.E.2d 126, 127 (2000).¹⁹

The Lack of Merit of Harry's Argument

The State more than satisfied the standard to overcome the motion(s) for a directed verdict on the charge of murder. Judge John appropriately denied the motion for a directed verdict at the

¹⁷ See also State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 555, 564 S.E.2d 87, 92 (2002); see Rule 19(a), SCRCrP.

¹⁸ See Cherry, 361 S.C. at 594, 606 S.E.2d at 478 (emphasis removed).

¹⁹ If there is any direct evidence or substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, the case must be submitted to the jury. State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 136, 620 S.E.2d 737, 743 (2005); Weston, 367 S.C. at 292, 625 S.E.2d at 648.

close of the State's case and at the close of Harry's case. There was both direct and substantial circumstantial evidence from which the trial judge and the jury could find Harry guilty of murder pursuant to the law of parties to a criminal offense, i.e. the hand of one is the hand of all and/or as one present aiding and abetting. Considering the evidence, including all inferences, in the light most favorable to the State, Judge John did not err, i.e. abuse his discretion, in denying the motion(s) for a directed verdict.

The Law

Harry argues the State presented insufficient evidence that he is responsible for the victim's murder under an accomplice theory.

Under the "hand of one is the hand of all" theory of accomplice liability, one who joins with another to accomplish an illegal purpose is liable criminally for everything done by his confederate incidental to the execution of the common design and purpose. A defendant may be convicted on a theory of accomplice liability pursuant to an indictment charging him only with the principal offense. [However, mere presence and prior knowledge that a crime was going to be committed, without more, is insufficient to constitute guilt. [Rather,] presence at the scene of a crime by pre-arrangement to aid, encourage, or abet in the perpetration of the crime constitutes guilt as a principal.

State v. Thompson, 374 S.C. 257, 261-62, 647 S.E.2d 702, 704-05 (Ct. App. 2007)(internal quotations and citations omitted).

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